IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

YACOV JACK HEFETZ,

Appellant,

v.

CHRISTOPHER BEAVOR,

Appellee.

Supreme Court No. 70327
District Court Case No. A-11-64533-6
Electronically Filed
Jul 14 2016 11:50 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

COHEN|JOHNSON|PARKER|EDWARDS

H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com
CHRIS DAVIS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6616
cdavis@cohenjohnson.com
MICHAEL V. HUGHES, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13154
mhughes@cohenjohnson.com
255 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone: (702) 823-3500
Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

Attorneys for Appellant

I. DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

IV. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 3A(b). On June 29, 2012, Notice of Entry of Order that dismissing claims of Alis Cohen was filed and served. ROA 96-99. On February 25, 2013, trial commenced on Plaintiff's claims and Defendants' counterclaims. ROA 431. On March 01, 2013, the court acknowledged the parties' agreement that Defendant Samantha Beavor would no longer be a party to the action and granted Plaintiff's Rule 50(a) motion which dismissed Defendants' counterclaims against Plaintiff Yacov Hefetz. *See* ROA 432-33, minutes date March 1, 2013. Also, on March 01, 2013, the jury entered a verdict in favor of Defendant Christopher Beavor on Plaintiff's remaining claims. Based on the trial results, on March 21, 2013, Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed and served. ROA 457-62. On June 10, 2013, Plaintiff filed a Motion for a New Trial or in the Alternative a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV), which requested "granting the Plaintiff a new trial. . . ." ROA 470, Motion for New Trial at p. 8:25-26. On September 09, 2013, Notice of Entry of Order was filed and served granting Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial. ROA 805-08. On June 18, 2015, Notice of Entry of Order was filed and served dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint, in its entirety, without prejudice, which disposed of all claims against Defendants. ROA 1035-39. Notice of Entry of Order granting Defendant's motion for attorney fees and costs was filed and served on

September 03, 2015. ROA 1188-91. On April 21, 2016, Notice of Entry of Order granting Plaintiff's Rule 50(a) motion dismissed all counter-claims asserted by Defendants against Plaintiff Yacov Hefetz, and therefore disposed of all remaining claims as to all remaining parties. *See* ROA 1202-10, Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiff's Rule 50(a) Motion. Appellant-Plaintiff timely filed a notice of appeal on April 29, 2016. *See* ROA 12011-12. Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal is therefore timely pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 4(a) and 26(c).

V. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(1) as this case does not involve a case category that is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals under Nev. R. App. P. 17(b).

This matter is also presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(14) as this case involves the application and waiver of the One Action Rule found in NRS 40.430 as applied to an action for the recovery on a guaranty of a debt, which is a question of statewide public importance and raises issues of first impression.

VI. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the district court erred in applying the One Action Rule (NRS 40.430) to an action for the recovery on a guaranty of a debt when the debt is not

1 secured by a mortgage or lien upon real estate because the security has been
2 rendered valueless?

3 2. Whether defendant waived the One Action Rule (NRS 40.430), and is
4 therefore barred from raising that affirmative defense, by failing to plead that
5 affirmative defense in his answer?

6 3. Whether defendant waived the One Action Rule (NRS 40.430), and is
7 therefore barred from raising that affirmative defense, by failing to plead that
8 affirmative defense prior to entry of a jury verdict in the first trial and on the eve of
9 a second trial?

10 4. Whether Defendant waived the One Action Rule (NRS 40.430), and is
11 therefore barred from raising that affirmative defense, by moving to dismiss
12 Plaintiff's Complaint base on the One Action Rule after the time for filing such
13 motion expired without showing the good cause required by Nev. R. Civ. P. 16(b)?

14 5. Whether the district court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint
15 without prejudice when it could have, pursuant to NRS 40.435(2)(b), granted a
16 continuance and ordered the amendment of the pleadings to convert the proceeding
17 into an action which does not violate the One Action Rule (NRS 40.430)?

18 6. Whether the district court erred in awarding costs to Defendant as the
19 "prevailing party against any adverse party against whom judgment is rendered"
20 when Plaintiff's Complaint was dismissed without prejudice?

1 7. Whether the district court erred in awarding attorney fees to Defendant,
2 based on Plaintiff's good faith rejection of an offer of judgment under NRS 17.115
3 and Nev. R. Civ. P. 68, when Plaintiff's Complaint was dismissed without
4 prejudice and therefore was not a "more favorable judgment"?

5 8. Whether the district court erred in awarding attorney fees and costs to
6 Defendant when the factors set forth in *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d
7 268 (1983) were not met?

VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 21, 2011, Plaintiff filed his Verified Complaint asserting claims against Defendant for breach of a guaranty to repay a \$6 million loan. *See* ROA 6-28, Complaint. Although Defendant never asserted the One Action Rule as an affirmative defense in his Answer (ROA 29-44), and the time to amend pleading had expired three (3) years before, Defendant untimely moved to dismiss, pursuant to NRS 40.435(2)(a) and NRS 40.430 (otherwise known as the “One Action Rule”). Defendant wrongly argued that the One Action Rule required Plaintiff to first pursue real property securing the loan before seeking to enforce the guaranty. *See* ROA 833-39, Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss. Despite the clear waiver of this unpled affirmative defense, the district court erroneously dismissed Plaintiff’s Complaint, without prejudice, pursuant to NRS 40.435. *See* ROA 1035-39, Notice of Entry of Order dated June 18, 2015.

On July 8, 2015, Defendant wrongly moved for attorney fees and costs based upon his unreasonable Offer of Judgment. *See* ROA 1070-80, Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs dated July 8, 2015. Without any analysis required by *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983), the district court erroneously granted Defendant’s attorney fees and costs. *See* ROA 1188-91, Notice of Entry of Order dated September 03, 2015.

1 On April 21, 2016, Notice of Entry of Order granting Plaintiff's Rule 50(a)
2 motion dismissed all counter-claims asserted by Defendants against Plaintiff
3 Yacov Hefetz, and therefore disposed of all remaining claims as to all remaining
4 parties. *See* ROA 1202-10, Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiff's Rule
5 50(a) Motion. Appellant-Plaintiff timely filed a notice of appeal on April 29,
6 2016. *See* ROA 1211-12.

7 **VIII. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

8 The Herbert Frey Revocable Family Trust ("Lender") loaned Toluca Lake
9 Vintage, LLC ("Borrower") \$6,000,000.00, pursuant to a loan agreement dated
10 March 29, 2007. *See* ROA 128-40, Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary
11 Judgment ("Plaintiff MJS"), Ex. 1, Loan Agreement. Plaintiff Yacov Hefetz
12 contributed a little more than \$2.3 million towards funding the loan. *See* ROA
13 160, Plaintiff MJS, Ex. 4, Hefetz Depo., at p. 31:21. The loan was evidenced by a
14 note and secured by three (3) deeds of trust. *See* ROA 138-33, Plaintiff MJS, Ex.
15 1, Loan Agreement, at p. 4-5. The loan was further secured by the personal
16 guarantee of Defendant Christopher Beavor, and his wife Samantha Beavor. *See*
17 ROA 216-21, Plaintiff MJS, Ex. 6, Payment Guaranty. In the Payment Guaranty,
18 Defendant agreed that the guaranty "may be enforced by Lender without the
19 necessity at any time of resorting to or exhausting any other security or collateral
20 . . . , or resorting to any other guaranties, and without limiting the generality of the

1 foregoing, Guarantor waives any right Guarantor may have under Nevada one
2 action rule, Nevada Revised Statutes Seton 40.430.” *See* ROA 219, Plaintiff MJS,
3 Ex. 6, Payment Guaranty, at p. 3, ¶ 5.

4 By at least May 14, 2009, Borrower defaulted on the Loan. *See* ROA 110,
5 Plaintiff MJS, at p. 5:9-11; ROA 137, Plaintiff MJS, Ex. 1, Loan Agreement, at p.
6 9, ¶ 7.1(e). Defendant, however, breached the Payment Guaranty by refusing to
7 repay the loan. *See* ROA 167, Plaintiff MJS, Ex. 4, Hefetz Depo., at p. 60:14-23.
8 Subsequently, Lender assigned its interest in the Loan, Note, Deeds of Trust, and
9 Guaranty to Plaintiff. *See* ROA 297-318, Plaintiff MJS, Ex. 15, Assignment by
10 Lender; Plaintiff MJS, Ex. 16, Assignment by Alis Cohen.

11 On June 21, 2011, Plaintiff filed his Complaint against Defendant. *See* ROA
12 1-28, Complaint. Defendant, in his Answer, never asserted the defense of the one
13 action rule. *See* ROA 29-44, Answer. The Scheduling Order, dated December 28,
14 2011, mandated that “all parties shall file motions to amend pleadings or add
15 parties on or before 2/21/12.” *See* ROA 56, Scheduling Order dated December 28,
16 2011, at p. 2:1-3. While the parties stipulated to extend discovery until July 23,
17 2012, and the dispositive motion deadline until August 23, 2012, the parties
18 expressly acknowledged that the “deadline for any party to amend the pleadings
19 has passed” and the “parties do not seek an extension of this date.” *See* ROA 89,
20 Stipulation and Order to Extend Discovery Deadlines dated May 29, 2012, at p.

1 2:12-22. At trial, which was held between February 5, 2013 through March 1,
2 2013, Defendant still failed to assert the defense of the One Action Rule. While
3 the jury entered a verdict in favor of the Defendant, the Court granted a new trial
4 based on the outrageous slurs against Plaintiff's Jewish heritage by Defendant's
5 counsel and counsel's improper arguments for the jury to ignore the law. *See* ROA
6 434, Verdict; ROA 463-72, Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial; ROA 805-08, Order
7 granting Motion for New Trial.

8 Although repeatedly rescheduled, the new trial was eventually scheduled for
9 October 12, 2015. ROA 829-31, Order Resetting Civil Jury Trial dated April 7,
10 2015. The district court expressly ruled that: "All discovery deadline, deadlines
11 for filing dispositive motions and motions to amend pleadings or add parties are
12 controlled by the previously issued Scheduling Order and/or any Stipulation and
13 Order to Extend Discovery Deadlines." *See* ROA 829, Order Re-Setting Civil Jury
14 Trial dated April 7, 2015, at p. 1:23-27. Except for the parties' stipulation on May
15 29, 2012, these deadlines were never extended.

16 On April 3, 2015, Defendant served an offer of judgment pursuant to Nev.
17 R. Civ. P. 68 and NRS 117.15. *See* ROA 1087-89, Offer of Judgment. Because
18 Defendant Plaintiff offered a mere \$10,000.00, which represented less than 1/4%
19 of the more than \$4,000,000.00 owed under the Payment Guaranty, Defendant
20 reasonably and in good faith declined to accept the offer.

1 Despite the fact that Defendant never moved to amend his Answer to assert
2 the affirmative defense of the One Action Rule, or sought leave of court to file a
3 motion to dismiss after the expiration of the dispositive motion deadline,¹ on May
4 5, 2015, Defendant moved to dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint, based on the One
5 Action Rule. *See* ROA 833-39, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. In the motion,
6 Defendant for the first time claimed that part of the property securing the
7 underlying loan included Defendant's residence and therefore the waiver of the
8 One Action Rule found in the Payment Guaranty was not effective pursuant to
9 NRS 40.495(5)(d). *See* ROA 835-37, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, at p. 3:15-
10 21, 4:20 – 5:22. Even if originally true, which was impossible to determine
11 because discovery had expired on July 23, 2012, throughout this litigation the loan
12 was not secured by Defendant's residence, as that security had become valueless,
13 because public records indicated that the liens held by senior lienholders far
14 exceeded the value of the property. *See* ROA 951-56, Plaintiff's Opposition to
15 Motion to Dismiss, at p. 4:25 – 5:6; 8:23 – 9:4. More importantly, Defendant had
16 waived that affirmative defense by not raising it prior to the expiration of the
17 deadline to amend, which expired on February 21, 2012, more than three (3) years
18 prior. Despite this clear waiver, the district court erroneously dismissed Plaintiff's

19 _____
20 ¹ Although, on May 8, 2015, Defendant filed a motion to reopen the dispositive
motion deadline in order to file a motion for summary judgment, that motion was
denied as moot. *See* ROA 858-68, Motion to Reopen Dispositive Motion

1 Complaint, without prejudice, pursuant to NRS 40.435. *See* ROA 1035-39, Notice
2 of Entry of Order dated June 18, 2015.

3 On July 8, 2015, Defendant wrongly moved for attorney fees and costs
4 based upon his unreasonable Offer of Judgment. *See* ROA 1070-80, Motion for
5 Attorney Fees and Costs dated July 8, 2015. Without any analysis required by
6 *Beattie*, the district court erroneously granted Defendant's attorney fees and costs.
7 *See* ROA 1088-91, Notice of Entry of Order dated September 03, 2015.

8 On April 21, 2016, Notice of Entry of Order granting Plaintiff's Rule 50(a)
9 motion dismissed all counter-claims asserted by Defendants against Plaintiff
10 Yacov Hefetz, and therefore disposed of all remaining claims as to all remaining
11 parties. *See* ROA 1202-10, Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiff's Rule
12 50(a) Motion. Appellant-Plaintiff timely filed a notice of appeal on April 29,
13 2016. *See* ROA 1211-12.

14 **IX. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

15 The district court wrongly dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint, which asserted
16 claims against Defendant for breach of a guaranty to repay a \$6 million loan. The
17 district court inappropriately dismissed Plaintiff's Complaint, pursuant to NRS
18 40.435, even though that section only permit dismissal when "provisions of NRS
19 40.430 [One Action Rule] *are timely interposed as an affirmative defense. . . .*"

20

Deadline; ROA 1035-39, Notice of Entry of Order filed June 18, 2015.

1 Defendant failed to timely interpose the affirmative defense of the One Action
2 Rule because that defense was never pled in Defendant's Answer and the deadline
3 to amend Defendant's Answer had expired more than three (3) years before
4 Defendant moved to dismiss based on the One Action Rule. Defendant therefore
5 waived the affirmative defense of the One Action Rule by failing to assert that
6 defense in his Answer as required by Nev. R. Civ. P. 8(c) and 12(b). Even if
7 Defendant had sought to amend his Answer, which was never the case, Defendant
8 could not and did not show the "good cause," required by Nev. R. Civ. P 16(b), for
9 failing to timely seek to amend his Answer.

10 Even if Defendant had not waived the One Action Rule as a matter of law,
11 the affirmative defense of the One Action Rule did not even apply. Contrary to
12 Defendant's claim, the underlying loan was not "secured" by an owner occupied
13 property, due to the fact that the liens of senior lienholders far exceeded the value
14 of the property, thus rendering the security valueless. Courts have universally held
15 that when the security is rendered valueless through no fault of the creditor, the
16 creditor is allowed to bring action on the debt and the One Action Rule does **not**
17 apply because it would be futile to proceed against valueless security. As
18 Defendant waived the affirmative defense of the One Action Rule, which does not
19 even apply in any event, the district court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint.
20

1 As Plaintiff's Complaint should not have been dismissed, the district court
2 wrongly granted Defendant's motion for attorney fees and costs. Even if dismissal
3 had been proper, attorney fees and costs may not be awarded when the complaint is
4 dismissed without prejudice. Additionally, attorney fees may not be awarded
5 because the district court failed to analyze the *Beattie* factors required to support an
6 award of attorney fees. Accordingly, the district court erred in awarding attorney
7 fees and costs. This Court should therefore reverse the district court's judgment
8 and remand the matter so that Plaintiff may continue to pursue their valid claims
9 against Defendant.

10 X. ARGUMENT

11 In *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d
12 670, 672 (2008), this Court ruled that a motion to dismiss a complaint "is subject to
13 a rigorous standard of review on appeal" and this Court reviews "the district court's
14 legal conclusions de novo." In *Webb, ex rel. Webb v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 125
15 Nev. 611, 618, 218 P.3d 1239, 1244 (2009), this Court also concluded that "de
16 novo review is appropriate when considering a challenge to a district court's
17 determination that a defense need not be affirmatively pleaded." In ruling on a
18 motion to dismiss, the court should "recognize all factual allegations in [plaintiff's]
19 complaint as true and draw all inferences in its favor. *Buzz Stew*, 124 Nev. at 228,
20 181 P.3d at 672. A "complaint should be dismissed only if it appears beyond a

doubt that [Plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief.” *Id.* Because the district court failed to follow this standard, it erred in granting Defendant’s motion to dismiss.

A. Defendant Waived the One-Action-Rule by *NOT* Pleading that Affirmative Defense in His Answer, and Therefore the District Court Erred in Considering that Defense.

The district court improperly dismissed Plaintiff’s Complaint pursuant to NRS 40.435(2)(a). Section 2, however, provides: “If the provisions of NRS 40.430 [One Action Rule] *are timely interposed as an affirmative defense* in such a judicial proceeding, upon the motion of any party to the proceeding the court shall: (a) Dismiss the proceeding without prejudice; or (b) Grant a continuance and order the amendment of the pleadings to convert the proceeding into an action which does not violate NRS 40.430.” *See* NRS 40.435(2) (emphasis added). Accordingly, under the plain language of the statute, the One Action Rule must be (1) “interposed as an affirmative defense” and (2) must be asserted “timely,” before the district court may dismiss the proceeding.

Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 12(b) (emphasis added): “*Every defense*, in law or fact, to a claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, *shall be asserted in the responsive pleading* thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter, (2) lack of

1 jurisdiction over the person, (3) insufficiency of process, (4) insufficiency of
2 service of process, (5) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, (6)
3 failure to join a party under Rule 19.” As the One Action Rule is not one of the
4 defenses permitted to be made prior to filing a responsive pleading, that defense
5 must be interposed in Defendant’s Answer. *See* Nev. R. Civ. P. 7(a) (indicating a
6 responsive pleading to a complaint is an answer and that “[n]o other pleading shall
7 be allowed”). Defendant, however, did not assert the affirmative defense of the
8 One Action Rule in his Answer. *See* ROA 29-44, Answer. In fact, Defendant did
9 not even seek to amend his Answer to interpose that affirmative defense.
10 Defendant therefore waived the affirmative defense of the One Action Rule, and it
11 was improperly considered by the district court. *See Wholesale Lumber Co. v.*
12 *Myers Realty, Inc.*, 92 Nev. 24, 30, 544 P.2d 1204, 1208 (1976) (holding that the
13 debtor “did not assert NRS 40.430 as an affirmative defense and therefore waived
14 the right to force [the creditor] to exhaust its security”); *Keever v. Nicholas Beers*
15 *Co.*, 96 Nev. 509, 513 n.1, 611 P.2d 1079, 1082 n.1 (1980) (explaining that “[o]ur
16 cases have made clear that a debtor may waive the one action rule by failing to
17 assert it as a defense to a suit upon the underlying obligation”).

18 In *Webb*, this Court held, *en banc*, that defendants “waived” the protection
19 of a statutory affirmative defense “because [defendants] failed to assert the
20 [statutory affirmative defense] in their answer.” 125 Nev. at 620, 218 P.3d at

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