#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

YACOV JACK HEFETZ,

Electronically Filed Sep 06 2016 03:32 p.m. Supreme Court No. 7 7 22 ie K. Lindeman District Court Case Note klof Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

CHRISTOPHER BEAVOR,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT CHRISTOPHER BEAVOR'S

#### ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL

Prepared and Submitted by:

DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC
JOEL Z. SCHWARZ, NV Bar No. 9181
jschwarz@dickinson-wright.com
GABRIEL A. BLUMBERG, NV Bar No. 12332
gblumberg@dickinson-wright.com
TAYLOR ANELLO, NV Bar No. 12881
tanello@dickinson-wright.com
8363 West Sunset Road, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89113
Telephone: (702) 550-4400
Attorneys for Respondent Christopher Beavor

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

## 2. The District Court's Orders Sufficiently Detail the Basis for Dismissal.

In addition to arguing that the district court abused its discretion in ordering a dismissal without prejudice, Hefetz contends, "the [district court] gave absolutely no consideration to the less drastic alternative of continuing the case." Opening

unwilling to offer a release or reconveyance. See APP001031.

14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Beavor's motion to dismiss was filed May 7, 2015, and the hearing on the motion was June 9, 2015. *See* APP00833, APP001029. Despite being afforded over one month to weigh his options and come to the realization that a release or reconveyance was the only option that would avoid dismissal, Hefetz was

Brief at 22:14-15. Not only does this argument ignore the language of <u>two orders</u> from the district court, it also misstates the remedy for a violation of the One Action Rule set forth in NRS 40.435(2)(b).

NRS 40.435(2)(b) does not provide for a continuance of an action to allow a claimant, currently in violation of the One Action Rule, time to ponder whether he would like to cure the violation (to the extent curable). Instead, NRS 40.435(2)(b) allows a district court, under appropriate circumstances, to order a continuance and an amendment of the pleadings to convert the proceeding into an action which does not violate the One Action Rule. Here, the only way Hefetz could have cured his violation of the One Action Rule was to release his security interest in the Beavor Property, which he clearly was not willing to do. The district court therefore did not abuse its discretion in denying Hefetz's request for a general continuance when he expressed no interest in complying with the requirement of NRS 40.435(2)(b) to convert the action into one not violating the One Action Rule.

Moreover, not only did the district court express the rationale behind its decision to grant dismissal without prejudice at the hearing on Beavor's motion to dismiss and in its order granting the motion (*see* APP001033, APP001038), but the district court also provided a lengthy analysis of its decision in its order denying Hefetz's motion for reconsideration (*see* APP001157).

In his motion for reconsideration, Hefetz proposed a standard he believed the district court should have used in deciding whether to dismiss his claim or order a continuance. The district court indulged Hefetz by addressing—and ruling in Beavor's favor—on each and every factor of Hefetz's hypothetical standard. *See* APP001045, APP001158-1159. Thus, Hefetz's contention that the district court gave no consideration to the remedy of a continuance and also failed to provide an adequate explanation of the basis for its decision is simply unfounded.

## B. BEAVOR COULD NOT AND DID NOT WAIVE THE STATUTORY ONE ACTION RULE DEFENSE

Because Hefetz cannot prevail on his argument that the district court abused its discretion in dismissing his breach of guaranty claim by applying the law to the facts of this case, Hefetz focuses his efforts on trying to refashion the law to suit his needs.

First, Hefetz posits that there is an ambiguity in NRS 40.435(3), which expressly states that a One Action Rule defense may be interposed at any point "before the entry of a final judgment." Second, Hefetz argues that the Court should interpret the "before the entry of a final judgment" requirement of NRS 40.435(3) to actually require the interposition of the One Action Rule defense at a much earlier point in time; namely, on or before the deadline to amend the pleadings set forth in a scheduling order. Third, in addition to attempting to

accelerate the timeline for interposing the One Action Rule defense in contravention of the language and legislative intent of NRS 40.435(3), Hefetz argues that Beavor's One Action Rule defense had to be asserted in a pleading, irrespective of the fact that it was litigated before final judgment.

Hefetz is incorrect in each of these arguments and there is no basis for rewriting statutory provisions for the expediency of Hefetz's untenable claim against Beavor.<sup>4</sup>

### 1. The Plain Language of NRS 40.495(5)(d) Prohibits a Waiver of the One Action Rule.

The rules of statutory construction are straightforward. *Cty. of Clark v. Doumani*, 114 Nev. 46, 52, 952 P.2d 13, 16 (1998) (superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in *Kay v. Nunez*, 122 Nev. 1100 (2006)). When interpreting a statute, the Court looks first to its plain language. *Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 365, 370, 252 P.3d 206, 209 (2011) (citing *Salas v. Allstate Rent–A–Car, Inc.*, 116 Nev. 1165, 1168, 14 P.3d 511, 513 (2000)). This Court must give a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Several times in his Opening Brief, Hefetz cites to the prejudice he has supposedly suffered due to the fact that Beavor was allowed to assert a One Action

Rule defense. See, e.g., Opening Brief at p. 28. Hefetz completely ignores the fact that the errors of Beavor's former counsel not only prevented Beavor from asserting the defense at an earlier stage in the case, but also allowed Hefetz an opportunity for a second trial when there was no valid ground for a second trial. APP001157. Indeed, Hefetz is perfectly happy with his second bite at the apple, but would deny Beavor the opportunity to assert applicable legal defenses such as the One Action Rule.

statute's terms their plain meaning, considering the statute's provisions as a whole so as to read them in a way that would not render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory. *Southern Nev. Homebuilders v. Clark County*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005). Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no room for construction, and the courts are not permitted to search for its meaning beyond the statute itself. *Doumani*, 114 Nev. at 52 (citing *Charlie Brown Constr. Co. v. Boulder City*, 106 Nev. 497, 503, 797 P.2d 946, 949 (1990)).

Here, there is no ambiguity within NRS 40.495. By its plain language, it provides that a guarantor cannot waive the One Action Rule where the debt is secured by the guarantor's principal residence. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 40.495(2), (5)(d). Additionally, there is no legitimate dispute that at all relevant times the Beavor Property has been: (1) Beavor's principal residence; (2) there is not more than one residential structure on the Beavor Property; and (3) not more than four families reside at the Beavor Property. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 40.495(d); *see also* APP00842, APP00951. It is also undisputed that the Beavor Property secured an indebtedness guaranteed by Beavor. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 40.495(2), (5)(d); *see also* APP00842, APP00951. As such, pursuant to the express language of NRS 40.495(2) and (5)(d), Beavor could not waive his One Action Rule defense. *See id.* 

#### 2. Beavor Timely Asserted the One Action Rule Defense.

While there is no ambiguity within NRS 40.495 itself, there is an apparent contradiction between NRS 40.495—providing the One Action Rule cannot be waived by a guarantor when the indebtedness being guaranteed is secured by the guarantor's personal residence—and NRS 40.435(3)—providing that if a One Action Rule defense is not interposed before entry of a final judgment, the defense is waived. This contradiction arguably creates an ambiguity between the statutory provisions. *See Law Offices of Barry Levinson v. Milko*, 124 Nev. 355, 367, 184 P.3d 378, 387 (2008) (internal conflict can render a statute ambiguous). However, when the basic rules of statutory construction are followed, the apparent conflict between the two provisions is easily reconciled and does not lead to the absurd conclusion propounded by Hefetz that the defense is waived if not interposed before a deadline not set forth in any statutory provision.

# a. Any Ambiguity Can Easily Be Harmonized by Basic Statutory Construction

The Court has a duty to construe statutes as a whole, so that all provisions are considered together and, to the extent practicable, reconciled and harmonized. *Orion Portfolio Servs. 2 LLC v. Cty. of Clark ex rel. Univ. Med. Ctr. of S. Nevada*, 126 Nev. 397, 403, 245 P.3d 527, 531 (2010) (citations omitted). In addition, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Setting aside Hefetz's proposed alternate definition of the term "secured," discussed further in Section III(C), *infra*.

Court will not render any part of the statute meaningless, and will not read the statute's language so as to produce absurd or unreasonable results. *Id.* (citing *Leven v. Frey*, 123 Nev. 399, 405, 168 P.3d 712,716 (2007)).

When interpreting a statute, legislative intent "is the controlling factor." *State v. Lucero*, 127 Nev. 92, 95, 249 P.3d 1226, 1228 (2011) (quoting *Robert E. v. Justice Court*, 99 Nev. 443, 445, 664 P.2d 957, 959 (1983)). Statutes with a protective purpose should be liberally construed in order to effectuate the benefits intended to be obtained. *Colello v. Adm'r of Real Estate Div. of State of Nev.*, 100 Nev. 344, 347, 683 P.2d 15, 17 (1984) (citations omitted).

Following these rules of interpretation, NRS 40.495 and NRS 40.435(3) are easily harmonized: a guarantor of debt secured by the guarantor's principal residence can raise the One Action Rule defense at any point in a legal proceeding before entry of a final judgment. This construction prevents the "before the entry of a final judgment" clause of NRS 40.435(3) from being rendered superfluous or nugatory and is consistent with the second sentence of NRS 40.435(3) which provides:

Such a failure [to interpose the One Action Rule as an affirmative defense] does not affect the validity of the final judgment, but entry of the final judgment releases and discharges the mortgage or other lien.

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 40.435(3). In other words, even when a guarantor fails to assert a One Action Rule defense before entry of a final judgment, there still is not a

complete waiver of the guarantor's protections; a judgment creditor is precluded from obtaining double recovery against the guarantor through both a residual security interest and a monetary judgment. See Nevada Wholesale Lumber co. v. Myers Realty, Inc., 92 Nev. 24, 30, 544 P.2d 1204, 1208 (1976) ("Failure to assert NRS 40.430 as an affirmative defense does not result in a waiver of all protection under that statute and leaves the debtor or his successor in interest free to invoke the sanction aspect of the 'one-action' rule") (emphasis added).

Construing NRS 40.495 and 40.435(3) to provide that a guarantor of debt secured by his personal residence can assert the One Action Rule defense at any point up to entry of a final judgment harmonizes the two statutory sections and gives meaning to all provisions thereof.

### b. The legislative intent also dispels Hefetz's interpretation

Such a construction is also entirely consistent with the legislative intent behind NRS 40.495 and 40.435(3). In 1987, NRS 40.453 was amended to provide protection for anyone who pledged a personal residence as loan collateral by making the One-Action Rule non-waivable in those situations. *See* S.B. 359 (1987). This was based on the public policy of preserving the sanctity of the single family home. *See* Hearing on S.B. 359 Before the Senate Judiciary Committee (April 16, 1987). Two years later, in 1989, the protection of single family

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In essence, a claimant is forced to elect a remedy to preclude double recovery.

residences was relocated to its current position in NRS 40.495. See A.B. 557 (1989).

That same year, the Nevada legislature also enacted S.B. 479, which is now NRS 40.435. In remarks before the Senate Judiciary Committee, attorney Michael Buckley,<sup>7</sup> on behalf of the State Bar of Nevada Business Law Committee—the drafters of S.B. 479—, said with regard to NRS 40.435(3):

The second new provision, <u>Section 3</u>, is probably the heart of our proposal. . . *Litigation decisions made in error should be rectifiable so long as no final judgment is entered.* The Committee believes this is consistent with California case law and modern civil procedure.

Hearing on S.B. 479 before the Senate Judiciary Committee (May 30, 1989) (emphasis added).<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This Court previously has relied on remarks submitted during legislative meetings when interpreting NRS Chapter 40. *See Lowe Enterprises Residential Partners v. District Court*, 118 Nev. 92, 103, 40 P.3d 405, 412 (2002).

If any case exemplifies "litigation decisions made in error," it is the instant action, and it was the intention of the Nevada legislature that litigants such as Beavor would be afforded the opportunity to rectify prior errors (by counsel) before entry of final judgment. As much as Hefetz would like to impugn Beavor, characterizing his delay in the assertion of the One Action Rule defense as "indolent" and a "cavalier disregard of the Court's scheduling order," the simple fact is that Beavor is not an attorney nor was he familiar with Nevada's One Action Rule. Instead, Beavor reasonably relied upon his former counsel, who clearly erred in not raising a host of legal defenses, including the One Action Rule. Hefetz can hardly cry foul when the defense: (1) was timely asserted per the express language of NRS 40.435(3); and (2) when, but for the errors of Beavor's counsel, his claim against Beavor would never have made it to a first trial, let alone survived a jury verdict in Beavor's favor.

When the Court considers this evolution of the One Action Rule, in particular NRS 40.495(5) and NRS 40.435(3) and the underlying intent of the Nevada Legislature to protect single family residences in all circumstances, the only plausible reading of NRS 40.495 and 40.435. is found within the plain language of NRS 40.435(3): that the One Action Rule defense can be interposed at any point prior to entry of a final judgment.

3. The Statutory Construction Proposed by Hefetz Renders Language Superfluous and Nugatory, Contravenes the Legislative Intent, and Leads to an Absurd Result.

In his opening Brief, Hefetz argues, "nothing in NRS 40.435(3) addresses the absolute deadline for asserting the One Action Rule Defense. . . . NRS 40.453(3) says nothing about whether the One Action Rule may be untimely and waived prior to final judgment." *Id.* at 16:11-17. Hefetz's position, therefore, is that the statutory phrase "before entry of final judgment" does not set the deadline for asserting a One Action Rule defense; rather, there is an implicit deadline to raise the defense prior to the deadline to amend the pleadings set forth in a trial court's scheduling order. However, this construction of NRS 40.453(3) not only reads "before entry of a final judgment" out of NRS 40.435(3), thus rendering it superfluous and nugatory, but also contravenes the legislative intent discussed above.

Moreover, whereas the reasonable statutory construction advanced by Beavor sets a discernable deadline, the construction advocated by Hefetz has no such effect because the deadlines in a scheduling order, including the deadline to amend pleadings, are never static and can be modified even after they have passed when there is good cause. *Nutton v. Sunset Station, Inc.*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 357 P.3d 966 (Ct. App. 2015). Thus, reading the "before entry of final judgment" language of NRS 40.435(3)to implicitly allow the Court to set an arbitrary deadline, as opposed to the deadline actually being the entry of final judgment as stated in NRS 40.453(3), leads to an absurd result.

### 4. There Is No Conflict between NRS 40.435(3) and the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure.

Recognizing the flaws in his arguments regarding the construction of NRS 40.453(3), Hefetz next argues that the "before entry of final judgment" clause of NRS 40.453(3) has "no effect" because it conflicts with the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. *See* Opening Brief at 17:6-7. Even if there were some conflict, which Beavor disputes, the Court must remember that NRCP 15(b) allows amendments of the pleadings "at any time, even after judgment." *Id.* Additionally, as discussed above, deadlines set forth in a scheduling order are subject to extension and reopening. Thus, there is no conflict between NRS 40.453(3) and any Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure.

## 5. The One Action Rule Defense Is a Substantive Right That Cannot Be Abridged or Modified by a Procedural Rule.

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